IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOHN ILIESCU, JR., individually, JOHN ILIESCU, JR. and SONNIA SANTEE ILIESCU, as Trustees of the JOHN ILIESCU, JR. AND SONNIA ILIESCU 1992 FAMILY TRUST AGREEMENT,

Appellants,

VS.

MARK B. STEPPAN,

Respondent.

Washoe County Case Nectronically Filed (Consolidated w/CV May 10312016 10:38 a.m.

Supreme Court No. 68346

Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

G. MARK ALBRIGHT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 001394 D. CHRIS ALBRIGHT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 004904

ALBRIGHT, STODDARD, WARNICK & ALBRIGHT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final Judgment. The basis for appellate jurisdiction herein is NRAP 3A(b)(1). Notice of Entry of the final Judgment was served on February 27, 2015. X AA2381-2383. A Motion to Alter or Amend under NRCP 52 and 59 was then filed on March 10, 2015 (X AA2384-2420), delaying the Notice of Appeal deadline under NRAP 4(a)(4)(B) and (C). Notice of Entry of an Order denying this Motion was served on May 28, 2015. X AA2447-2448. Notice of Appeal was then filed within thirty (30) days on June 23, 2015. X AA2449-2453. Finality of the Judgment and appellate jurisdiction was recognized by prior Order of this Court. XI AA2490-2492.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(3).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the district court erred in excusing mechanic's lien claimant Steppan's failure to provide the Iliescus, as property owners, with the Pre-lien Notice required by NRS 108.245, by relying on the "actual notice" exception to that statute, established in Fondren v. K.L. Complex Limited Co., 106 Nev. 705, 800 P.2d 719 (1990), even though no actual notice by the Iliescus of the identity of lien claimant Steppan was demonstrated, and the lien was solely for offsite design services, with no construction commencing "upon" the property, as had occurred in Fondren.
 - II. Whether the district court erred in failing to identify the

date on which actual notice purportedly occurred, while still upholding the entirety of the lien, without addressing whether any of the allegedly lienable work had occurred after 31 days before that date, pursuant to NRS 108.245(6).

- III. Whether the district court erred in excusing Steppan's other numerous failures to substantially comply with Nevada's lien statutes.
- IV. Whether the district court erred in upholding Respondent Steppan's mechanic's lien, which was manifestly not for services performed "by or through" Steppan, as required by NRS 108.222(1)(a) and (b), but was a lien for the unpaid invoices of, and alleged value of services provided directly for the customer by, Steppan's employer, Fisher Friedman Associates ("FFA"), a foreign architectural firm not registered to provide licensed architectural services in Nevada, working directly for the customer and not as a subprovider of Steppan, which had not been hired by Steppan, and whose unlicensed services were in any event not legally provided.
- V. Whether the district court erred by including language in its Judgment suggesting that the Iliescus might be personally liable to Steppan for amounts beyond the value of their liened Property.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the Iliescu property owners' appeal from a Judgment upholding a \$4,536,263.45 mechanic's lien in favor of Mark Steppan against their property, for the unpaid invoices of Steppan's employer, a non-Nevada licensed California architectural firm, for offsite architectural services performed for a would-be purchaser and developer of the liened property, during an escrow which never closed.

On November 7, 2006, a mechanic's lien notice was recorded in Steppan's name against the Iliescus' "Property" as described therein. VIII AA1730-1734.

The Iliescus filed an Application for Release of Mechanic's Lien on February 14, 2007 (I AA0001-0007) initiating the first of these two consolidated cases, and arguing that Steppan had failed to provide the required pre-lien notices under the mechanic's lien statute. Steppan's initial lien was replaced by an amended lien (VIII AA1735-1740) and a separate lawsuit, to foreclose thereon, was then filed in Steppan's name on May 4, 2007. I AA0172-0177. The two suits were then consolidated. I AA0205-0212.

On June 22, 2009 the district court issued a partial summary judgment Order (III AA0508-0511), which excused Steppan from his failure to ever serve the Iliescus with the pre-lien notice required by NRS 108.245(1), ruling that such notice was not required due to the Iliescus' having actual notice of architectural work being performed. On May 9, 2013, another partial summary judgment Order issued (III AA0578-0581) holding that the amount of Steppan's lien would be based on a flat fee percentage-based AIA Agreement signed by the customer, claimed as controlling by lien claimant Steppan. Steppan later filed a "Second Amended Notice and Claim of Lien" (VIII AA1741-1750) prior to a four day bench trial held in December 2013, which trial did not allow for any possible reconsideration of the prior Summary Judgment Orders. III AA0643; IV AA0770 11. 3-20, VI AA1468 11. 15-18. Six months after trial, the district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision (hereinafter the "Decision") in favor of Steppan. VIII AA1911-1923. No Judgment having yet been entered on this Decision five months thereafter, a motion to set aside this Decision was filed under Rule 60(b) (IX AA1964-2065), but denied (X AA2425-2431), and the district court entered its final Judgment on February 26, 2015 (X AA2378-2380). A motion to alter or amend this Judgment (X AA2384-2424; X AA2436-2442) was then filed, which was also denied (X AA2443-2446). This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Steppan's lien should have been repudiated due to his failure to abide by NRS 108.245 requiring a right to lien notice to be sent, within 31 days of any work for which a lien is later sought. The Iliescus were deprived of their statutory protections to such notice on the basis of their alleged awareness that offsite design work was being performed, without any finding as to when such knowledge on their part had allegedly occurred, for purposes of allowing a lien for only such work as was performed after 31 days before said date (pursuant to NRS 108.245(6)), and without any finding that the Iliescus knew of the *identity* of the lien claimant who would pursue a lien for the performance of this work, as required by Nevada case law.

Steppan also failed to substantially comply with Nevada's lien perfection

¹ As this section of the brief is intended solely as argument, citations to the record on appeal are not included, but are set forth below, in the more detailed recitation of facts.

statutes in other regards, beyond his failure to serve an NRS 108.245 Notice.

Furthermore, a mechanic's lien claimant may only lien for the value of services provided "by or through" the lien claimant, NRS 108.222(1)(a) and (b). Thus, a Nevada mechanic's lien claimant may lien for moneys owed to him for his own work, or for the work of his employees or of his subcontractors, but not for money owed to another party, for that party's and its employees' and its subproviders' work, or for such other party's unpaid direct invoices to its customer. The "Steppan" lien was, however, not for Steppan's work, or for that of his employees or his subcontractors, but was for unpaid invoices sent by his employer, a foreign architectural firm, Fisher Friedman and Associates ("FFA"), which was not licensed to perform work in Nevada, for the services provided by it and by its employees, and its subcontractors, directly to the customer, under its own direct relationship with that customer. There was no evidence, let alone the substantial evidence required, to reasonably support the court's finding that Steppan had hired this foreign architectural firm to work as Steppan's subprovider. The Judgment based on that finding, and the other Orders based on that inaccurate ruling, must therefore be set aside. Furthermore, even if Steppan had retained FFA to work under Steppan, the unlicensed work performed by FFA was not lienable as part of Steppan's lien, and its claims to be exempt from Nevada's architectural licensing statutes, because it acted as a mere "consultant," are preposterous.

The Judgment is also erroneous in that it suggests the possibility that, following any lien foreclosure sale of the Iliescus' Property, by Steppan, the Iliescus may be personally liable for amounts unable to be satisfied by the value of the Property, which is directly contrary to Nevada's mechanic's lien statute and the Nevada case law explaining the same.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>The Iliescus Agreed to Sell their Property, and the Purchaser Retained FFA.</u>

The Iliescu Appellants are the owners of vacant and unimproved real property in downtown Reno, as described in the mechanics lien at issue herein (the "Property"). VIII AA1748-1749. Appellants entered into a Land Purchase Agreement and Addendums (I AA0024 *et seq.*) to sell the Property to a purchaser, Consolidated Pacific Development, which, unbeknownst to the Iliescus (I AA0008) eventually assigned its rights to purchase the Property to an entity known as BSC. VIII AA1913. (Consolidated Pacific Development and BSC are jointly hereinafter referred to as "BSC," and are sometimes described as the "purchaser" or "developer"). BSC planned to develop a multi-use high-rise development to be known as the "Wingfield Towers" at the Property. *Id.* IV AA0957-0958.

During escrow (which would never close), BSC negotiated with Rodney Friedman ("Friedman"), to have his California architectural firm, Fisher Friedman Associates ("FFA") design the Wingfield Towers. IV AA0948 at 11. 14-16; 0957 at

1. 24; AA0962-0966. Friedman was the sole owner of FFA (Fisher having retired). V AA1003-1004; 1085; IX AA2029. FFA was not registered to perform licensed architectural services in Nevada (VI AA1481-VII AA1482), nor could it be, as its sole owner Friedman was not licensed in Nevada (VIII AA1913, at ¶9), such that it lacked the 2/3 Nevada licensee ownership required by NRS 623.349 to become so registered. IX AA2044. *See also*, *DTJ Design Inc. v. First Republic Bank*, 318 P.3d 709, 711, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 5 (2014) (foreign architectural firm, not registered in Nevada, and not 2/3 owned by Nevada licensees, could not lien for its improperly performed unlicensed Nevada work).

B. FFA Directed Steppan to Sign the Initial Contract on its behalf and Work Began, Without Any Pre-Lien Notice Being Provided.

Steppan, who was Friedman's son-in-law, and had worked for FFA in California his entire career, was the only FFA employee with a Nevada architectural license. VIII AA1913, at ¶9; IX AA2030; III AA0698;VI AA1377-1378; IX AA2029. Thus, Friedman had Steppan sign the contract(s) for FFA's services to BSC (V AA1089 at 1. 23 thru 1090 at 1. 2) beginning with an hourly fee letter agreement dated November 15, 2005 (VIII AA1751-1752), which the FFA firm decided to enter into (IV AA0978 at 11. 2-5), as an initial "stop-gap" until a later AIA Agreement would be signed. VIII AA1914 at 1. 26 - 1915 at 1. 8.

It is undisputed that, as work began, neither FFA nor Steppan sent any Notice to the Iliescus that rights to lien their Property were being created due to

offsite architectural work being performed, as required by NRS 108.245. I AA0004; AA0019-0020; VIII AA1916, at II. 9-11. Pursuant to NRS 108.245(3), where no such notice is provided, "[n]o [mechanics] lien for . . . work or services performed . . . may be perfected or enforced." If notice is given, then a lien may be pursued for work performed commencing 31 days prior to the date on which the notice was provided. NRS 108.245(6).

Dr. Iliescu was aware that architectural work would take place during escrow, but understood that the purchaser had an in-house architect. VI AA1277. He was never told (prior to receiving the lien)² that Mark Steppan was the architect and did not know of his identity. VI AA1311; 1347.

C. Steppan Did Not Retain FFA to Work for Him, but FFA Provided Its Services Directly to BSC, Under a Direct Relationship with BSC, and Was Paid Directly by BSC, until Payments Ceased, Whereupon "Steppan's" Lien Was Recorded and this Suit Pursued for FFA's Unpaid Invoices to BSC.

A key question for this Court will be to determine whether it was appropriate to allow Steppan to lien for FFA's and its employees' work product. It is anticipated that Steppan will argue that this was appropriate because FFA was retained by Steppan, who employed FFA to work as a subprovider to him on his work for BSC (such that FFA's work was provided "by or through the lien claimant" Steppan, and is therefore lienable by him, under the language of NRS

² Trial testimony regarding subsequent communications with the architect are in regard to later events, after the initial, November 2006 lien. VI AA1350.

108.222(1) (a) and (b)). This is the position taken by Steppan in post-trial filings (IX AA2082 at II. 9-11) and accepted by the district court in an oral post-trial statement. X AA2363 at I. 20 – AA2364 at I. 4. However, as will be shown herein, this position is completely unsupportable: FFA was not retained by Steppan (who remained FFA's employee), but, rather, FFA had its own direct contractual relationship with BSC, worked directly for BSC, communicated directly with BSC, and was paid directly by BSC until payments ceased, at which point FFA sent invoices to BSC, on FFA letterhead, which *FFA* invoices are the basis of the "Steppan" lien, and of this suit to foreclose thereon. Thus, the district court's oral finding at a hearing on a post-trial motion that Steppan was employing FFA during the project, was clearly erroneous as a matter of law, as shown by the following demonstrated facts:

(i) The Contract Facts. Evidence of three types of contract with BSC were presented at trial, and will be discussed herein: an hourly fee agreement, pending the later execution of an AIA Agreement; various side or add-on agreements (some of them never signed) for miscellaneous extra-contractual work; and, finally, the AIA Agreement. As to the relationship between Steppan and FFA, no written agreement was ever entered into between Steppan and FFA, by which Steppan hired FFA, either as his design consultant or in any other capacity. IX AA2045. This fact alone is legally fatal to the claim that Steppan retained FFA as his client,

because: (a) the AIA Agreement was to be in effect for at least 32 months (II AA0259 at § 1.5.9 and II AA0274),³ such that any oral subcontract for FFA to subprovide services to Steppan thereunder would be void under Nevada's statute of frauds for contracts to last more than one year (NRS 111.220(i)). (b) NRS 623.325, would also require any such architectural services contract (for FFA to act as a sub-architect to Steppan), to be in writing.

The hourly agreement. Although the initial hourly agreement which Friedman had negotiated was signed by Steppan, as the purported "Contract Architect", this document listed 28 categories of the Contract Architect's employees (VIII AA1752-1753). Steppan, however, continued to be employed by FFA (VIII AA1913 at II. 16-20), and therefore had no employees of his own, such that these 28 categories of employees were in fact FFA employees/employee categories, and FFA was the contract architect in all but name, whose employees were billing under this hourly agreement. Indeed, Friedman testified that the initial hourly agreement authorized not Steppan, but Friedman ["you"] to proceed with the work, after "the firm decided to proceed" on that basis. IV AA0978 at II. 3-9, and 22.

The side agreements. As the work was being performed, certain extra-

³ The time parameters under the AIA Agreement were "negotiated between Fisher-Friedman and the client" and the 32 month time frame was the "expected" duration "pending normal situations" for this project. VI AA1461-1462.

contractual work allegedly came to be requested of or volunteered by FFA such as responding to city staff questions, reviewing information as to an adjacent church parking lot, etc., and letter proposals for this side work were generated, including as presented to BSC by Nathan Ogle of FFA (VIII AA1771), some of which were never signed by BSC. VIII AA1758-1771; VIII AA1743. Steppan has verified (under questioning by his own counsel) that "Fisher Friedman" performed this side work, and "Fisher Friedman" billed the client for it, and did not receive any objections about its invoices for the same. VI AA1404, 1408. Based thereon, the district court understood, and Steppan confirmed, that the question before the court was whether "Fisher Friedman Associates" would be "reimbursed" for the work performed under these side add-on agreements. IV AA1402, 1405.

Friedman also acknowledged that these side agreements were between FFA and BSC, testifying for example, as to one of these agreements, that the purchaser BSC asked *Friedman* ["you"] to go study city staff questions and his firm FFA ["your firm"], billed BSC for doing so. V AA0986 at 1. 19, and 0988 at 1. 11. Nevertheless, the district court upheld the entirety of the Steppan lien (compare VIII AA1742-1750 with X AA2378-2380) which included a lien claim for these side projects (VIII AA1747-48), and thereby allowed *Steppan*, rather than FFA, to lien for these FFA side agreements, which FFA was asked to perform, and which were performed by FFA, and which were invoiced by FFA. XI AA2557-2571.

The AIA. This final form AIA Agreement (II AA0250-0274), calling for a flat fee tied to the anticipated cost of construction (which never commenced), was ultimately signed on April 21, 2006 (II AA0265; 0271) but was allegedly to be treated as effective October 31, 2005 (II AA0250; III AA0524, AA0528) in order to supplant the earlier hourly fee agreement. FFA employee Nathan Ogle, rather than Steppan, would have been involved in negotiating the language of this AIA Agreement. VII AA1520. Steppan cannot remember any communications with BSC, regarding the language of the AIA Agreement. VII AA1527-1528. This Agreement allowed flat fee invoices to be sent, but apparently no work was performed under this document after it was signed. IX AA2052. The Iliescus were not parties to any of these contracts, which each listed BSC as the "owner" based on an anticipated closing. VIII AA1914 II. 4-5.

FFA was not listed in the AIA Agreement as a subcontracting consultant to Steppan, the location for such a designation being left blank (II AA0252 at § 1.1.3.3.), but was instead listed in the Addendum to the AIA, as a direct party thereto (II AA0272) (namely as BSC's "Design Consultants"), such that the AIA was between BSC, on the one hand, and both Steppan and FFA, on the other. This conforms with Steppan's testimony, that "both" he and FFA were working for BSC (IX AA2053-2054), and with Friedman's testimony, that "the **developer agency** or entity with respect to the Wingfield Towers project in Reno [*i.e.*, BSC] did actually

commit to pay a fee" not to Steppan but "to [his, Friedman's] firm based on a percentage" flat fee as called for in the AIA Agreement. IV AA0973 at 11. 3-7 (emphasis added). Friedman repeatedly confirmed his position that FFA (and or he, himself) was a direct party to the AIA Agreement, which he repeatedly described as "our" or "my" agreement, which "we" had "signed" under which "I would be entitled to my compensation" based on the terms thereof. V AA1063, 1081-82, 1155, 1165. Friedman also acknowledged the identity of his "client" as "the developer" [i.e., BSC] which developer was not the Iliescus, as owners of the property. V AA1111 at Il. 13-15. Thus, FFA's client, who employed FFA, was not Steppan, but BSC.

(ii) The Work Performance Facts. As the district court noted in its initial post-trial Decision, rather than FFA performing its work by or through lien claimant Steppan (as required by NRS 108.222(1)(a) and (b)), the work product the court attributed to Steppan was provided "at or through FFA." VIII AA1916 at II. 2-3. The district court did not however correctly apply the law to this factual finding. Moreover, Steppan did not himself create the designs or the drawings attributed to him by the district court's Decision, which were FFA's work product, primarily created by FFA sole owner Friedman and FFA employee David Tritt. IX AA2053-2054. Friedman admitted that the work product belonged to FFA and could not be obtained without FFA's –"our"– permission. V AA1107.

Steppan's hourly involvement in the project was minimal, his counsel conceding that almost ninety-five percent (95%) of the work thereon was performed by FFA employees other than Steppan, including over 90% of the architects' work. X AA2339 at 1l. 5-12. It is respectfully submitted that this work, performed by non-Nevada licensed architects, employed by a non-Nevada registered architectural firm, was, however, illegal, under NRS 623.180(1) and NRS 623.360(1)(c) for the reasons set forth at IX AA1988-1992, and at IX AA2199-2203. Nevertheless, Steppan admitted in post-trial briefs that *FFA's* employees, including its "unlicensed designers" performed the vast majority of the design work for which Steppan now liens. IX AA2079, 1l. 8-13; IX AA2083 at 1l. 11-13; IX AA2084 at 1.1; IX AA2201.

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