#### Electronically Filed Jul 13 2016 10:01 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court State of Nevada

## In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

JOHN ILIESCU, JR., individually; John
Iliescu Jr. and Sonnia Santee Iliescu,
as trustees of the JOHN ILIESCU, JR. AND
SONNIA ILIESCU 1992 FAMILY TRUST
Agreement,

Appeal No. 68346

Appellants,

VS.

MARK B. STEPPAN,

Respondent.

## **Respondent's Answering Brief**

Michael D. Hoy Hoy CHRISSINGER KIMMEL VALLAS, PC 50 West Liberty Street, Suite 840 Reno, Nevada 89501 (775) 786-8000 mhoy@nevadalaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent

### In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

JOHN ILIESCU, JR., individually; John

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

In their Rule 60(b) motion, Iliescus raised issues that were never raised before or during trial. The Opening Brief seems to cast these issues as purely legal issues that must be reviewed *de novo*. This Court must evaluate whether or not the District Court abused its discretion by denying the Rule 60(b) motion. Nevertheless, this brief demonstrates (as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> TE 6, at RS 254.

the District Court found) that there is no substantive merit to Iliescus' licensing arguments.

Finally, Iliescus ask this Court to decide an issue that is not ripe. The Judgment follows the lien statute and provides that <u>if</u> the proceeds from the foreclosure sale are insufficient to satisfy the lien, then Steppan <u>may</u> seek a personal judgment against Iliescus for the deficit. In their motion to stay execution of the Judgment without a bond, Iliescus have represented to the Supreme Court that the property is worth much more than the lien, so that Steppan is fully secured. Thus, it is unlikely that a deficit will ever lead to a justiciable claim. The issue is simply not ripe at this time.

#### Argument

A. Substantial evidence supports the District Court's findings that Iliescus had actual notice that Steppan was providing architectural design services, obviating the requirement for a pre-lien notice.

#### 1. Introduction

A lien claimant contracts directly with an "owner" is not required to give a pre-lien notice. NRS 108.245(5). In other cases, the law requires some form of notice to the owner that work that could result in a lien is or will soon be underway. Service of a statutory pre-lien notice is the simplest way to demonstrate that notice. But the pre-lien notice is not the exclusive way to accomplish this.

Under Fondren v. K.L. Complex Limited Co., 106 Nev. 705, 800 P.2d

719 (1990), no prelien notice is required if the owner of the property

receives actual knowledge of the potential lien claim and is not

prejudiced. Steppan did not give a statutory pre-lien notice. Iliescus

initiated litigation to establish that they did not receive Fondren notice.

Following discovery, the issue of Fondren notice was submitted in cross-

motions for partial summary judgment.<sup>71</sup> The District Court (Judge

Adams) denied Iliescu's motion and granted Steppan's motion, finding,

The Applicants, specifically Iliescu, viewed the architectural drawings as well as attended meetings where the design team presented the drawings. The Court finds even though Iliescu alleges he did not know the identity of the architects who were working on the project, he had actual knowledge that the Respondent [Steppan] and his firm were performing architectural services on the project.

Order, June 22, 2009.<sup>72</sup>

See Iliescu's motion for partial summary judgment (AA 0230-0340); Steppan's opposition and cross-motion (AA 0341-0434); Iliescu's reply (AA 0435-0478); and Steppan's reply (AA0479-0507).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> AA 0508-0511.

Despite the preclusive effect of a partial summary judgment, Iliescus nevertheless made *Fondren* notice a key part of the trial and offered testimony about what Iliescu knew about the architectural services. After trial, the District Court (Judge Sattler, who presided over the trial) made findings that "there is no doubt in the Court's mind that Iliescu was aware of the work being done by Steppan (a third party) on behalf of [the developer]."<sup>73</sup> This finding was supported by other specific findings that go to *Fondren* notice.<sup>74</sup> The District Court entered Conclusions of Law applying *Fondren* and other precedents.<sup>75</sup> Then the District Court held:

The Court finds by a preponderance of the evidence that Steppan has proven that Iliescu was aware of the third party services he was providing. Iliescu was in attendance during numerous presentations where the instruments of service containing Steppan's name were presented. He personally saw the instruments of service. Iliescu negotiated repeatedly for specific inducements in Wingfield Towers. Further, Iliescu knew that an architect would be employed to design Wingfield Towers. Iliescu signed affidavits giving [Developer] the right to negotiate on his behalf. While there was no pre-lien notice provided, none was required.

<sup>75</sup> Conclusions of Law,  $\P\P 2 - 9$ , AA 1918-1920.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Findings of Fact, ¶ 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Findings of Fact, ¶¶ 14, 15, 17, 18 (AA 1915-1917)

Conclusions of Law,  $\P \ 13^{.76}$ 

2. Because the issue of *Fondren* notice was further litigated after entry of the partial summary judgment, this Court should review the entire record to review the trial judge's determination that Iliescus had actual notice under *Fondren*.

Iliescus argue that the *Fondren* notice issue was determined by summary judgment, which precluded a trial on the issue. But, notwithstanding the summary judgment, both parties presented trial evidence on the notice issue. On appeal, Iliescus do not attempt to show that genuine issues of material fact rendered the summary judgment erroneous. The Opening Brief instead attacks the <u>trial</u> judge's findings and conclusions that Iliescu received *Fondren* notice.

# 3. The District Court's determination that Iliescus received *Fondren* notice is supported by substantial evidence.

The District Court's factual findings must be given deference "and will be upheld if not clearly erroneous and if supported by substantial evidence." *Weddell v. H2O, Inc.*, 128 Nev.Adv.Op. 9, 271 P.3d 743, 748 (2012). "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> AA 1921.

Here, Iliescus insists that they subjectively did not know that Steppan was providing architectural services to design future construction or secure development entitlements. But based on the entire trial record, the District Court concluded otherwise. The Opening Brief does not attack the District Court's factual findings as clearly erroneous or unsupported with evidence.

The District Court ruled that Iliescu knew Steppan's identity.<sup>77</sup> Iliescus suggest that no direct evidence supports the claim that Iliescus had actual knowledge of Steppan's identity. This is incorrect. In the early days of the case, an Affidavit of David Snelgrove (a land planner who coordinated submission of the applications for development entitlements) established that Iliescu had actual knowledge of Steppan's identity.<sup>78</sup> The trial record is replete with testimony about Iliescus signing development applications, reviewing plans, attending meetings, and other exposures to Steppan's work and identity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Conclusions of Law, ¶ 13, AA 1921.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> AA 0184-186.

# 4. Under *Fondren*, constructive notice has the same legal impact as actual notice. The agents' knowledge must be imputed to Iliescus.

Notice to a property owner's agent is constructive notice to the

owner for purposes of *Fondren* notice:

In addition, a property owner has actual knowledge of potential lien claims if the property owner or the property owner's agent regularly inspects the remodeling project. Id. Actual knowledge by the property owner's agent is imputed to the property owner. [] An owner who witnesses the construction, either firsthand or through an agent, cannot later claim a lack of knowledge regarding future lien claims. [] In Fondren, the property owner received regular updates from her lawyer and approved specific construction activities. Id.

We concluded that the property owner in Fondren had actual knowledge of the potential lien claims because the property owner had both knowledge that the property required substantial remodeling and regular updates on the progress of the project from an agent who inspected the premises. "Delivery of any pre-lien notice would have accomplished little or nothing and, therefore, was not required."

Hardy Companies, Inc. v. SNMARK, LLC, 126 Nev. 528, 540, 245 P.3d 1149,

1157 (2010) (citations omitted). Furthermore, NRS 108.22104 defines

"agent of the owner" to include...

every architect, builder, contractor, engineer, geologist, land surveyor, lessee, miner, subcontractor or <u>other person</u> <u>having charge or control of the property</u>, improvement or work of improvement of the owner, or any part thereof. Here, Iliescus placed Caniglia in charge or control of the property by signing the Owner Affidavits appointing him as an agent for the purpose of presenting applications for development entitlements.<sup>79</sup> Caniglia signed the design contracts with Steppan.<sup>80</sup> Thus, Steppan contracted with an "agent of the owner," whose knowledge may be imputed to the owners.

Constructive knowledge based on the knowledge of Caniglia, whom Iliescus deputized to apply for development entitlements is supported by the trial record. It is an alternative basis for affirming the judgment. *See Hotel Riviera, Inc. v. Torres,* 97 Nev. 399, 403, 632 P.2d 1155, 1158 (1981) ("If a decision below is correct, it will not be disturbed on appeal even though the lower court relied upon the wrong reasons.") This Court will imply findings of fact and conclusions of law so long as record is clear and will support the judgment. *Luciano v. Diercks,* 97 Nev. 637, 639, 637 P.2d 1219, 1221 (1981).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Findings of Fact, ¶ 18, AA 1916-1917.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> TE 6, RS 243-262

## 5. Iliescus' lawyers' knowledge must be imputed to Iliescus.

"Notice to the attorney of any matter relating to the business of the

client in which the attorney is engaged is notice to the client." *Noah v.* 

Metzker, 85 Nev. 57, 59-60, 450 P.2d 141, 143 (1969). See also, Huckabay

Properties, Inc. v. NCAuto Parts, LLC, 130 Nev. Adv.Op. 23, 322 P.3d 429,

437 (2014) (citation omitted).

Iliescus argue that it would be wrong to impute the lawyers'

knowledge to the client in the absence of evidence that the lawyers

actually communicate the knowledge to the client. Opening Brief at 35.

Iliescus' legal contention is unsupported with precedent, and is

contradicted by binding precedent:

Notice to an attorney is, in legal contemplation, notice to his client. [] The attorney's neglect is imputed to his client, and the client is held responsible for it. The client's recourse is an action for malpractice. []

Lange v. Hickman, 92 Nev. 41, 43, 544 P.2d 1208, 1209 (1976). In fact,

Iliescus have recognized this principle, and sued Hale Lane for legal

malpractice failing to communicate knowledge of Steppan to Iliescus:

The Hale Lane law firm never discussed with or advised Iliescu at any time to record a Notice of Non-Responsibility with the Washoe County Recorder to ensure the Property would not be encumbered by mechanics or architect's liens recorded by individuals hired by CPD as contemplated by the Purchase Agreement. On October 31, 2005, unbeknownst to Iliescu, an architect, Mark Steppan, AIA, entered into a contract with BSC Financial, LLC in relation to the property subject to the Purchase Agreement.<sup>81</sup>

Constructive knowledge based on the knowledge of Hale Lane,

whose representation included protecting against liens, is supported by

the trial record.

# 6. The *Fondren* doctrine applies equally to onsite work and offsite work.

The Opening Brief posits that *Fondren* notice only applies to liens for work or materials "being incorporated into the property." Certainly, *Fondren* happened to involve construction *on* the liened property. But the *Fondren* doctrine is not limited to those facts: the doctrine is based on actual (or imputed) knowledge.

It is also true that, at the time of *Fondren*, Nevada lien law only secured payment for work or materials physically incorporated into physical improvements on the liened land. (Thus, architects had a lien for on-site inspections, but not for designing the improvements.) The 2003 Legislature amended the lien statute to broaden the definition of "lien claimant" to include:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> AA 0221, ¶ 21

any person who performs services as an architect, engineer, land surveyor or geologist, *in relation to* the improvement, *property* or work of improvement.

2003 NEV.STAT. 2588 (Chapter 427, SB 206, § 12), now codified in NRS 108.2214(1)(emphasis added).

lliescus cite J.E. Dunn Northwest, Inc. v. Corus Construction Venture, 127 Nev.Adv.Op. 5, 249 P.3d 501, 508 (2011)("Corus") in support of an argument that Fondren notice applies to onsite, but not offsite, work. Corus has nothing to do with Fondren notice or the validity of Steppan's mechanics lien. Corus is simply a battle over the priority of a deed of trust and a subsequently-recorded mechanics lien. A mechanics lien may attach before recordation. NRS 108.225 establishes priority of competing security interests. Under the statute, a mechanics lien's priority is based upon "commencement of construction," which is the date on which "work performed… is visible from a reasonable inspection of the site." See analysis at Id., 249 P.3d at 505.

If this case involved a priority dispute between a deed of trust beneficiary and a lien claimant, NRS 108.225 and *Corus* might be relevant. But there is no such dispute here. When Steppan recorded his mechanics lien, Iliescus' property was not encumbered by a deed of trust or mortgage.

# 7. The effectiveness of *Fondren* notice is not limited in time.

When required, a pre-lien notice preserves the right to lien with

regard to work performed up to 31 days before the notice. NRS

108.245(6). In this appeal, Iliescus attempt to engraft this statutory time

limit onto Fondren notice. Yet nothing in Fondren, Hardy Companies or

any other precedent suggests that actual or constructive notice is only

effective as to work performed 31 days before notice is achieved.

Iliescus never raised this issue before or during trial.<sup>82</sup> It appears

that Iliescus first raised the issue in a <u>reply</u> brief in support of a motion to

alter or amend the judgment.<sup>83</sup> The <u>reply</u> brief argued a point that was

not raised in the motion, and could not be addressed by Steppan:

Significantly, a pre-lien notice allows a lien claimant to lien solely for any work performed within a time period commencing 31 days prior to the date on which the notice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> This Court should note that Iliescus never raised this argument in the cross-motions for summary judgment on *Fondren*. Iliescus' motion (AA0230); Steppan's opposition and cross-motion (AA0341); Iliescu's reply (AA0435); Steppan's reply (AA0479). Iliescus' trial statement does not address the issue. AA 0681. It is not an issue argued in the closing arguments. Trial Transcript, AA1687, et. seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> The motion to alter or amend the judgment was filed March 10, 2015. RS 725-761. Iliescu's motion itself does not raise the issue. Therefore, the issue is not addressed in Steppan's opposition. AA 2421.

was provided. NRS 108.245(6). Similarly, therefore, if the actual knowledge exception is invoked, then the date of such actual knowledge must be ascertained to determine when the lienable period began, as the value of services provided prior thereto cannot be liened. This Court has upheld the entirety of the Steppan lien without any finding as to when, if ever, Iliescu knew of Stephan's identity as the potential lien claimant.<sup>84</sup>

This was an attempt to reinvent a case that had already been litigated through trial and entry of a final judgment. A motion to alter or amend a judgment may not be used to raise arguments that could have been raised prior to the entry of judgment. *Stevo Design, Inbc. V. SBR Marketing, Ltd.*, 919 F.Supp.2d 1112, 1117 (D.Nev. 2013). Likewise, an appellant may not raise new fact or legal issues that were not presented to the district court. *Einhorn v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP*, 128 Nev.Adv.Op. 61, note 3, 290 P.3d 249, 252, note 3 (2012). This Court should decline to address this issue.

Constructive notice of Steppan and his identity would necessarily attach as soon as Caniglia began negotiations with Steppan, and when Hale Lane began work on the design contract. Iliescus have offered no evidence of a time gap lapsing between constructive notice and the first

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> AA2436, at 2439, lines 11-17.

work that gives rise to the lien. And, as Iliescus point out, the Developer

paid Steppan for the earliest work.

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